DA 11-1-94

FILED

SID J WHITE

JUL 20 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 83,464

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

JOYCE AND EDGARDO MOZO,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JOAN FOWLER

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar #339067

CAROL COBOURN ASBURY

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 393665 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd. Suite 300 West Palm Beach, Fla.

33401-2299

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, was the Appellee in the District Court. The Respondents, JOYCE AND EDGARDO MOZO, were the Appellants below. The parties will be referred to as they stand before this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts of this case were succinctly set forth in the Fourth District Court of Appeal's opinion in Mozo v. State, 632 So. 2d 623 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), see appendix:

FACTS

The Mozos were arrested and informed against for possession of cocaine, possession of cannabis, and possession of drug paraphernalia. They moved to suppress evidence seized from their home in a search and claimed the search resulted from the government's illegal interception of private telephone calls in their home. After taking testimony and hearing argument, the court denied the motion, finding that the police acted lawfully intercepting the cordless phone calls. The Mozos subsequently pleaded nolo contendere but reserved the right to appeal the court's ruling because a contrary ruling on the legal issue involved would be dispositive of the state's case against them.

The hearing on the Mozos' motion to suppress disclosed the following facts. On June 20, 1991, Detectives Mike Kapo and Patrick McGowan of the Plantation Police Department were in the area of the Harbor Town Apartment Complex using an electronic scanning device to monitor private telephone calls. It is not clear from the record why the detectives

chose to surveil this particular Their goal was to use the complex. scanning device to scan frequencies at random hoping to come across some kind illegal activity. According to Detective McGowan, this could be done by the different tuning device in to various frequencies SO transmissions, as from such cordless phones, could be overhead. Detective Kapo purchased the scanner, made by Realistic, at Radio Shack on June 17, three days before the date in question. The purchase was made with funds furnished by the Plantation Department and, according to Detective Kapo, was approved by his sergeant for the express purpose of monitoring cordless phone calls.

On the night of June 20, detectives intercepted numerous phone calls, including a phone call in which a female named "Joyce" was speaking to an unidentified male by cordless telephone. The male asked Joyce if "she had the same stuff that she had last night." Joyce then turned away from the receiver and asked an unidentified person, "Do you have the same stuff as last night?" After receiving an answer, she responded into the receiver, "No, just has powder. rock." Αt No no time after eavesdropping in on this call did the officers attempt to obtain a court order to continue to monitor that frequency. Both detectives testified the reason they did not obtain such an order was because they believed that Florida's Security of Communications Act, Chapter 934, Florida Statute (1989) did not apply, and therefore, they were legally entitled to intercept cordless phone conversations without one.

The detectives continued to monitor the same frequency throughout the evening, eventually hearing a female say, "[C]ome to my apartment. The entrance code is 120." The next day, June 21, 1991, the detectives learned entrance code 120 corresponded with an

apartment rented to appellant Edgardo Upon gathering this information, they began to visually surveil apartment. In addition, they continued to monitor the same frequency, and even began to tape record the intercepted phone conversations. Once again, these followed procedures were obtaining a warrant or court order. Furthermore, all calls were intercepted without the knowledge or consent of the Eventually, after following callers. the same procedures and intercepting a number of calls for one more day, to Detective McGowan left obtain search warrant. He recited the above information, and added he observed a pattern of people arriving apartment and leaving shortly thereafter. Finding probable cause, the judge issued a search warrant for the Mozos' residence.

The detectives executed the warrant later that night and recovered an extensive list of physical evidence, including several contraband items. Mrs. Mozo was present in the apartment, along with three others, but Mr. Mozo was not.

The record is devoid of any description of the Mozos' cordless phone or how it operates, although the record does indicate there is a sticker on the bottom of the base unit containing the following statement:

This cordless telephone system operates on the part 1568 FCC Rules. Privacy of communication may not insured when using this phone. Operation is subject to two it may not conditions: 1. interfere with radio 2. it must communications. interference accept any received including that which undesirable cause may Complies with operation.

parts 1568 FCC Rules, FCC registration number.

There is no evidence indicating the Mozos' knowledge of this sticker.

The Fourth District Court of Appeals found that private conversations emanating from a person's home over a cordless telephone are protected under Section 12 and Section 23 of the Florida Constitution but not under the Florida Wiretap Law, Section 934, Florida Statute. Fourth District Court noted in footnote 11 that there was no need to certify the issue in this case since the court has construed a provision of the Florida Constitution. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In the instant case respondents' cordless telephone conversations were intercepted by police officers using a Bearcat Scanner bought at Radio Shack. Federal cases have held that radio portion of a cordless telephone conversation as not "wire, oral or electronic communication" and there reasonable privacy is no expectation of in such communication. The Florida Wiretap Act is a mirror image of the Federal Wiretap Law. As such, the radio portion of a cordless telephone conversation is also excluded from the Florida Wiretap Act.

Federal case law requires the Federal Wiretap Law be interpreted in accordance with the principles enunciated in Katz v. United States, 398 U.S. 347 (1967). The Fourth Amendment test for protection of communication is the same as that codified in the Federal Wiretap Law. In other words the question of whether an expectation of privacy is reasonable under the circumstances so as to implicate the Fourth Amendment is a question of law to be interpreted in accordance with the principles enunciated in Katz, i.e., whether subjective expectation of privacy is objectively reasonable.

The Florida Supreme Court adopted the <u>Katz</u> test in <u>State v. Inciarrano</u>, 473 So. 2d 1272 (Fla. 1985) for determining whether or not an oral communication falls within the ambit of Section 934.02(2), <u>Fla.Stat.</u> Section 12 of the Florida Constitution specifically covers the

unreasonable interception of private communications. addition, Section 12, Fla.Const., specifically states that "shall be construed in conformity with the Fourth Amendment." Thus, whether a private communication is protected under Section 12 of the Florida Constitution must determined in accordance with the same principles enunciated in Katz and Inciarrano. Consequently, the test used under both the statutory law constitutional provisions remains the same: the person must have а subjective expectation of privacy and expectation must be one that society recognizes reasonable. Katz, supra.; Inciarrano, supra.

The Fourth District Court of Appeals was correct in determining that the Florida Wiretap Act, Section 934, Fla.Stat., does not apply to the radio portion of a cordless telephone conversation. For the same reason that person may have no objectively reasonable subjective expectation of privacy in a cordless telephone conversation under the Florida Wiretap Act, Section 934, Fla.Stat., neither can he do so under Article I, Section 12, Fla.Const. analysis.

Although respondents might, from time to time, have had a subjective expectation of privacy in their cordless telephone conversations, such expectations were not objectively reasonable under constitutional analysis. In view of the widespread use of cordless telephones, as well as the warning labels attached to these phones pursuant to Federal Communications Commissions requirements, it is no

longer reasonable to claim or exhibit ignorance of a cordless telephone's fundamental operation. Notwithstanding, the alleged subjective expectation of privacy, the respondents have no more reasonable expectation of privacy in their conversations under Section 12 of the Florida Constitution than does a shouter.

Section 23 of the Florida Constitution is not implicated in this case. Section 23 includes those privacy interests which are not protected by specific constitutional provisions. Protection against the unreasonable interception of private communication is specifically provided for in Section 12. Thus, Article I, Section 12 is the exclusive State Constitutional provision under which the validity of search and seizures with regard to cordless telephone communication can be challenged.

ARGUMENT

THE USER OF A CORDLESS TELEPHONE HAS NO REASONABLE OR LEGITIMATE EXPECTATION OF PRIVACY, EITHER SUBJECTIVE OR OBJECTIVE, UNDER SECTION 12 OR SECTION 23 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

On June 20, 1991, Detective Mike Capo and Patrick McGowan of the Plantation Police Department were in the area of the Harbor Town Apartments using a Realistic Band Pro 2022 Programmable Scanning Receiver; i.e. a Bearcat Scanner. Both officers testified that according to their DEA training conversations on a cordless telephone are not protected under the wiretap law. R 10,18,29-30. The police officers intercepted cordless telephone conversations relating to the purchase and sale of drugs. These conversations were taped. Eventually the officers sought a search warrant based on the telephone conversations and their own observations.

Officer Patrick McGowan testified that he told Judge Frusciante all about the monitored cordless telephone calls and the procedure used in monitoring the cordless telephone calls. Judge Frusciante was also told that many cars were observed coming to the apartment and the visitors staying for only a short time, then leaving. Seven were observed in one day and five in the next day. Based on the information received, Judge Frusciante found that there was probable cause to issue a search warrant. R 19. The search warrant was executed in good faith.

Respondents were charged with possession of cocaine, possession of cannabis, and possession of drug

paraphernalia. Respondents filed a motion to suppress the evidence in the trial court. They alleged that the monitoring and taping of the radio portion of cordless telephone conversations violated Florida's Wiretap Act, Section 934, Fla. Stat. The trial court denied the respondents' motion to suppress concluding that the respondents did not have a "legal expectation of privacy as contemplated by the statute." R 75-76.

The respondents appealed. The Fourth District Court agreed with the trial court that the respondents did not have a legal expectation of privacy as contemplated by Florida's Wiretap Statute, Section 934. Nevertheless, the Fourth District Court found that the interception and recording of the cordless telephone conversations did violate Section 12 and Section 23 ofthe Constitution. The Fourth District Court did not ask for supplemental briefs, therefore, the exact issue regarding the Florida Constitution was never argued to the Fourth District Court. Petitioner disagrees with the conclusion of the Fourth District Court of Appeals.

A cordless telephone of the type used by the respondents here and of the type found in most households today is a two way radio transmitter/receiver. As early as 1973 the federal courts have recognized the relative ease in which a cordless telephone conversation may be intercepted and that this was common knowledge. See _United States v.

Hall, 488 F. 2d 193 (1973); Edwards v. Bardwell, 632 F.
Supp. 584 (M.D. La.), aff'd, 808 F. 2d 54 (5th Cir. 1986).

standard reference work encyclopedia will disclose that a "radio telephone," which is fast becoming a popular fad, is simply a small radio set which converts sound waves into radio waves for broadcasting and converts waves into sound waves receiving...The voices of both persons are broadcast "in the clear," that is, no attempt is made to "scramble" or distort the signal. Thus, any person having a radio receiver within range of the broadcast can hear the conversation if his receiver is capable of receiving the frequency used. The frequencies or channels which a particular radio may receive are determined by the tuning device which it contains. A particular receiver may be constructed to receive a limited number of radio frequencies (i.e. only AM commercial radio stations, or both AM and FM radio stations or only commercial television stations) or to receive literally thousands frequencies upon which may be broadcast and received police, fire, railroad, ambulance, aircraft, marine, citizens band, and many other types of radio broadcasts, including mobile telephones. Radio transmission and receiving is, in short, a matter of physics. (emphasis mine).

Edwards v. Bardwell, 632 F. Supp. 584, 586-7 (M.D. La.), aff'd, 808 F. 2d 54 (5th Cir. 1986). See also, State v. Smith, 438 N.W. 2d 571, 574 (Wis. 1989).

Of course, by definition, cordless telephone transmissions are neither "wire communications" nor "electronic communications" under the federal or state law. See 18 U.S.C. Section 2510(1) and (12), Sections 934.02(1)

and (12), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> If a cordless telephone conversation is to be protected at all from interception, it must be under the Fourth Amendment standard of <u>Katz v. United States</u>, 389 U.S. 347, 88 S. Ct. 507, 19 L.Ed. 2d 576 (1967) and now codified as an "oral communication" under Section 934.02(2), <u>Fla.Stat.</u> The Florida law is a mirror image of the Federal wiretap law.

In 1986 Congress amended the Electronic Communications
Privacy Act (referred to herein as Title III), 18 U.S.C.
Sections 2510 et. seq. Prior to 1986, Title III prohibited
the unauthorized interception of "oral communications,"
which are defined as:

any oral communication uttered by a person exhibiting an expectation that such communication is not subject to interception under circumstances justifying such expectation[.] 18 U.S.C.A. Section 2510(2).

This definition was written shortly after the decision of the Supreme Court of the United States in Katz v. United States, supra, and was intended to be interpreted in accordance with the principles enunciated in Katz. State v. DeLaurier, 488 A. 2d 688 (R.I. 1985). Before the 1986 amendments to Title III, cordless telephone transmissions were not explicitly excluded from coverage. Nevertheless, the emerging view before the 1986 amendment was that cordless telephone transmissions were not protected under Title III, the federal wiretap law. State v. DeLaurier,

(even if defendant's broadcast over A.M. radio supra; through use of a cordless telephone were characterized as "oral communications" within meaning of Title III, defendant's rights were not violated by police action in monitoring the broadcast on an A.M. radio); Edwards v. Bardwell, 632 F. Supp. 584 (M.D. La.), aff'd, 808 F. 2d 54 (5th Cir. 1986) (Wiretap Act provides no protection against interception of cordless telephone transmissions); State v. Howard, 235 Kan. 236, 679 P.2d 197 (1984) (defendant's cordless telephone conversation overheard with neighbor's AM/FM radio not protected); United States v. Hall, 488 F. 2d 193 (1973) (The exclusionary provisions of the Wiretap Act least one participant in a telephone apply when at conversation uses an ordinary line telephone but there is no protection for a conversation between two transceivers.) 1 See also, Edwards v. State Farm Ins. Co., 833 F. 2d 535, 539 (5th Cir. 1987); United States v. Rose, 669 F. 2d 23, 26-27 (1st Cir.), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 828, 103 S. Ct. 63, 74 L. Ed. 2d 65 (1982) (Both cases holding that there is no justifiable expectation in the privacy of a cordless telephone conversation under the Communication Act, 47 U.S.C. Section 605).

The 1986 version of Title III, the federal wiretapping statute, codifies this emerging view that cordless telephone conversations cannot be protected. Even after the 1986

¹The absurdity of this postition was noted and rejected in <u>Bardwell</u>, 632 F. Supp. at 588-589 and by this Court in <u>Dorsey v. State</u>, 402 So. 2d 1178 (Fla. 1981).

amendments, the core definition of "oral communication" remains the same as when first written, shortly after the decision in Katz, and was intended to be interpreted in accordance with Katz principles. United States v. Carr, 805 F.Supp. 1266, 1271 n. 9 (E.D.M.C. 1992). Noting that both the Department of Justice and the Federal Communications "unencrypted told Congress that Commission from in fact be protected transmissions cannot eavesdropping," the Carr court stated:

> However, the 1986 version of the federal wiretapping statute demonstrates the reality that, after a certain point, the law is incapable of protecting privacy Without question, Congress was rights. aware of the distinction cordless telephones and cellular telephones; it chose to protect cellular conversations but not conversations. While critics of the '86 Act call for reform in order to rectify the inequity, the truth is that there's no putting the Katz back in the bag. That is, the ease with which cordless wave" "radio broadcasts may intentionally intercepted -inadvertently -- precludes any notion of effective enforcement of a law designed to prevent it.

<u>United States v. Carr,</u> 805 F.Supp. 1266, 1272-1273 (E.D.N.C. 1992). The Fourth District Court in the appended opinion also noted:

The legislative history to the 1986 Amendments of Title III reflects the legislature's explicit finding that because cordless telephones operate by radio waves, the "radio portions of

these telephone calls can be intercepted with relative ease using standard AM radios." S.Rep. No. 541, 99th Cong., 2d Sess. (1986), reprinted in 1986 U.S. Code Cong'l and Admin. News 3555, 3563. Moreover, in adding the cordless phone exception to the definition of a "wire communication," the Senate recognized that "[b]ecause communications made on telephones cordless can intercepted easily with readily available technologies, such as an AM radio, it would be inappropriate to make the interception of such a communication a criminal offense under Title III. Id. at 3566.

Mozo v. State, 632 So. 2d 623, 629 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994).

After the 1986 amendment, the Federal courts and courts throughout the United States have overwhelmingly held that the interception of cordless telephone conversations does not violate Title III, continuing the pre-1986 trend. State v. Smith, 149 Wis. 2d 89, 438 N.W. 2d 571 (1989)(Defendant's neighbor overheard defendant's cordless telephone conversation using a radio scanner. No expectation of privacy.); Tyler v. Berodt, 877 F. 2d 705 (8th Cir.), cert denied, U.S. , 110 S. Ct. 723, 107 L. Ed. 2d 743 (1989) (No justifiable expectation of privacy where neighbor's cordless telephone intercepted conversations on the cordless telephone in Tyler's household); People v. Wilson, 554 N.E. 545 (Ill. App. 1st Dist. 1990) (third party intercepted two mobile telephone conversations with a standard radio scanner. Held that the scanner was not an eavesdropping device and manual alerted owner that conversations could be transmitted to others);

People v. Fata, 139 Misc.2d 979, 529 N.Y.S.2d 683 (1988) (Federal law does not prohibit the warrantless interception of cordless telephone conversations); United States v. Carr, 805 F.Supp. 1266 (E.D.N.C. 1992) (interception of a cordless telephone conversations does not violate Title III or the Fourth Amendment); United States v. Smith, 978 F. 2d 171 (5th Cir. 1992), cert. denied, 113 S.Ct. 1620, 123 L. Ed. 2d 179 (1992) (no protection under either the federal wiretap law or the Fourth Amendment); Salmon v. State, 206 Ga.App. 469, 426 S.E. 2d 160 (Ga.App., Sep. 29, 1992) (cellular telephone users have no justifiable expectation of privacy because the telephones transmit "FM" radio waves for anyone to hear); State v. Bidinost, 1993 West Law 215454 (Ohio App. 8 Dist., Cuyahoga County, June 17, 1993) (The purpose of the eavesdropping statute is to protect an individual's right to a legitimate expectation of privacy. It will not be used to reach an absurd result.); State v. Neisler, 635 So. 2d 433 (La.App. 4 Cir., Mar. 29, 1994) (no reasonable expectation of privacy from a conversation on a cordless phone); State v. King, 873 S.W. 2d 905 (Mo.App. S.D., Apr 15, 1994) (finding that substantial authority from other jurisdictions interpreting similar statutes, including interpreting federal wire tap laws, exclude the radio broadcast from a cordless telephone from the wiretap laws). But See, State v. McVeigh, 224 Conn. 593, 620 A.2d 133 (Conn., Feb. 16, (the majority recognized that its decision runs 1993)

counter to the numerical weight of authority in other jurisdictions both federal and state).²

The Florida Legislature amended Chapter 934 in 1988, two years after Congress amended Title III. The Fourth District Court was correct in holding that the "legislature was aware of the state of the law as it existed under Title III of the federal act both before and after its amendment, and made a conscious choice to include the cordless phone exceptions, presumably intending to follow the federal example....we hold cordless communications do not qualify as an 'oral communication' under section 934.02(2) and thus falls outside the protection afforded by the Act." Mozo v. State, 632 So. 2d at 630.

Recently, the Second District Court addressed Florida's 1988 amended Wiretap Act, noting that it mirrored the federal statute:

We have held that Congress, through its legislation, has "preempted the field of the interception of wire communications under its power to regulate interstate communications." State v. McGillicuddy, 342 So. 2d 567, 568 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977).

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