OA 12-594

047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SUPREME COURT CASE No. 83,464

4DCA CASE NO. 92-0280

AND A STATE COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

VS.

JOYCE & EDGARDO MOZO,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

J. DAVID BOGENSCHUTZ, Esquire Bogenschutz & Dutko, P.A. Jefferson Bank Building 600 South Andrews Avenue, Suite 500 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Telephone: (305) 764-2500

Counsel For Respondents

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

²Section 934.02(12), Florida Statutes (1991), defines, in pertinent part, "electronic communication" as:

[A]ny transfer of signs, signals, writing, images, sounds, data, or intelligence of any nature transmitted in whole or in part by a wire, radio, electromagnetic, photoelectronic, or photooptical system that affects intrastate, interstate, or foreign commerce, but *does not include*:

(a) The radio portion of a cordless telephone communication that is transmitted between the cordless telephone handset and the base unit. (Emphasis added).

¹Section 934.02(1), Florida Statutes (1991), defines "wire communication" as:

justifying such expectation and does not mean any public oral communication uttered at a public meeting or any electronic communication. (Emphasis added).

The district court engaged in an exhaustive explanation negating the application of section 934.02(2) to cordless telephone communication. See generally Mozo, 632 So.2d at 627-30. In summarizing its analysis of the statute's effect in Respondents' case, the appellate court stated that "the Mozos had neither a subjective nor a reasonable expectation of privacy in these conversations because they took place over a cordless phone." Id. at 627. Nonetheless, the lower court's decision discounted the fact that the "seized" conversations originated within Respondents' private residence and, as such, were indeed conducted with the required reasonable expectation of privacy demanded by section 934.02(2). This greater protection for in-home communication comports with well-established principles of law and the federal and state constitutions which guarantee citizens a reasonable expectation of privacy in their own home. See U.S. Const. amend. IV; Art. I, §§ 12 & 23, Fla. Const.; see also See v. Seattle, 387 U.S. 541, 87 S.Ct. 1737, 18 L.Ed.2d 943 (1967) (search of private houses presumptively unreasonable if conducted without a warrant).

In this case, the Respondents' expectation of privacy within their house was both subjectively and objectively reasonable and, as such, the intrusion by police upon that expectation was a violation of statute. According to unrefuted authority, the actual "interception" of a communication occurs not where police ultimately hear or record what is said, but where the communication originates. *See United States v. Nelson*, 837 F.2d 1519 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, Waldhart v. United States, 488 U.S. 829, 109 S.Ct. 82, 102 L.Ed.2d 58 (1988). In Nelson, the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals ruled on a jurisdiction question

contingent on the exact location where an "interception" occurs. The federal appellate court held that the "aural acquisition of the content of any ... communication," pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 2510(4)³ and section 934.02(3), Florida Statutes,⁴ "refers to *the place where a communication is initially obtained* regardless of where a communication is ultimately heard." *Nelson*, 837 F.2d at 1527 (emphasis added). In the case at bar, the intercepted communication was obtained where the conversations were conceived—within the Respondents' private dwelling. *See Mozo*, 632 So.2d at 624. The unlawfulness of the interception of Respondents' telephone calls is demonstrated by the fact that the interception, or seizure of communications, occurred *within* the Respondents' home without a warrant.⁵ *See* Art. I, § 12, Fla. Const. (absent specified exception, search warrant required

-6-

³18 U.S.C. § 2510(4) (West Supp. 1994) defines the term "intercept" to mean:

[[]T]he aural or other acquisition of the contents of any wire, electronic, or oral communication through the use of any electronic, mechanical, or other device. [The emphasized portions denote amendments to § 2510(4) under Pub. L. 99-508, § 101(a)(3) (1986)].

⁴Section 934.02(3), Florida Statutes (1991), defines the term "intercept" as:

[[]T]he aural or other acquisition of the contents of any wire, electronic, or oral communication through the use of any electronic, mechanical, or other device.

⁵Timothy R. Rabel, Comment, The Electronic and Communications Privacy Act: Discriminatory Treatment for Similar Technology, Cutting the Cord of Privacy, 23 J. MARSHALL L. REV. 661, 680 (1990) [hereinafter ECPA: Discriminatory Treatment for Similar Technology] ("If the ECPA focuses on intent, it should not matter how hard an individual may work in order to intentionally receive or intercept a communication. The interceptor of radio communications is analogous to a burglar. The law punishes a person as a burglar no matter how hard he had to work to enter the house. Since the law does not treat a burglar who broke a window to enter a house any differently from a burglar who entered the house through an open window, the law should not treat an individual living next door to someone who owns and uses a cordless phone, and knows he can listen to his neighbor if he actively

for search and seizure of evidence within a private home); see also Hoffa v. United States, 385 U.S. 293, 301, 87 S.Ct. 408, 413, 17 L.Ed.2d 374 (1966) ("[P]rotections of the Fourth Amendment are surely not limited to tangibles, but can extend as well to oral statements"); Lopez v. United States, 373 U.S. 427, 83 S.Ct. 1381, 10 L.Ed.2d 462 (1963) (physical trespass need not occur for there to be a search and seizure, private telephone conversations are protected from electronic eavesdropping by the government).

In its opinion, the district court further suggested that it would be inappropriate to make interception of cordless telephone communication a criminal offense "since some types of cordless communications can be so easily intercepted." *Mozo*, 632 So.2d at 629 (citing S. Rep. No. 541, 99th Cong., 2d Sess. 13 (1986), reprinted in 1986 U.S.C.C.A.N. 3555, 3566). Respondents contend that such reasoning is not only misdirected but dangerous to the concept of a citizen's expectation of privacy under Chapter 934. In light of the state of modern technology, allowing technological advances to dictate what fundamental rights will be preserved for citizens, especially with regard to the detection, observation, and interception of human activity, would eventually lead to the legalization of all government infringement on private rights. *Mozo*, 632 So.2d at 634-35 ([I]f an "ease of interception" standard were applied there would be virtually no private communications protected from



and purposely tunes his radio to the right frequency any differently from someone who owns a scanner and purposely tunes his scanner to the right frequency. Both parties are making an effort to intercept a communication and are intending the consequences of their actions, to intercept the communication, just as a burglar intends to enter the house by any means and commit a felony. The culpable state of mind is present, and there are similar acts by both individuals. Therefore, the courts should have the ability under the law to punish both parties equally." (Footnotes omitted)).

the government's use of advanced technology to intercept private communications); see also id. at 634, n.10 (author George Orwell's frightening prediction of society in his book 1984 describes life in a technologically-advanced society with "big brother government" watching and listening-in on all citizens' private activity).

Balancing the ease of government intrusion on individual rights and the reasonableness of an expectation of privacy, the United States Supreme Court held that the government's ability to infringe on a right must submit to the private citizen's right to privacy. Ruling on a citizen's right not to have police intercept telephone conversations by monitoring a party line, the Supreme Court stated that although a telephone party line user should realize that their conversations were "obviously vulnerable" to being overheard by third persons, such activity is not excluded from protection of the Federal Communications Act. Lee v. Florida, 392 U.S. 378, 381, 381 n.5, 88 S.Ct. 2096, 2098, 2098 n.5, 20 L.Ed.2d 1166 (1968).



⁶In his concurring opinion, Judge Farmer phrased the question whether technology should dictate statutory protection more appropriately as "what non-wire and non-electronic oral communication is NOT capable of being surreptitiously intercepted by current technology.... [I]f technology is the measure of society's expectations, at the current rate advances threaten to consume not only any mythical statutory privacy rights but the real constitutional ones as well." *Mozo*, 632 So.2d at 636 (Farmer, J., concurring).

⁷The Federal Communications Act, 47 U.S.C. § 605, as applied in *Lee v. Florida*, is a precursor statute to 18 U.S.C. § 2510 (enacted in 1968 with the intention that law enforcement officers' activities regarding wiretapping be governed by the new Crime Control Act). Section 2510 is the federal counterpart to Chapter 934, Florida Statutes. Section 605 provides in pertinent part:

[[]N]o person not being authorized by the sender shall intercept any communication and divulge ... the existence, contents, substance, purport, effect, or meaning of such intercepted communication to any person....

The State contends that any reasonableness of an expectation of privacy is further diminished by the actual or implied knowledge that such communications are subject to interception as evidenced by the warning notices attached to the instruments. In an analogous case, Judge Anstead of the Fourth District wrote that the court could not agree that "a mere suspicion or implied knowledge that a communication might be recorded makes unreasonable the expectation of privacy in that communication...." *State v. Sells*, 582 So.2d 1244 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991).

In Sells, the court held that although a deputy sheriff's superior officer suspected the deputy might record their conversation in the superior's office, the State made a sufficient prima facie case that the recording was a violation of Chapter 934. The court in Sells reasoned that:

To permit recordings where the recorded party may be "suspicious" would completely vitiate the consent [to be recorded] requirement. For instance, a person talking on the telephone with someone else may hear a pinging sound or other unusual noise and may suspect that the sounds could be associated with recording. Does that mean he has consented to the recording? We think not. In effect such a holding would mean that someone who violates the statute in a clumsy manner would be immune from prosecution as a matter of law. The message would be that one may intercept private communications with impunity as long as one does so in a manner that might suggest the conversation is being intercepted.

582 So.2d at 1245 (emphasis added). Judge Anstead explained the court's basis for finding that implied knowledge that a conversation may be recorded did not abrogate protection under the Security of Communications Act, stating:

In enacting chapter 934, the legislature intended that each party to a private conversation should enjoy an expectation of privacy in that conversation. Shevin v. Sunbeam Television Corp., 351 So.2d 723 (Fla. 1977). The statute is designed to protect victims of illegal

interceptions, not those who perpetrate them. State v. News-Press Pub. Co., 338 So.2d 1313 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976). The statute bars recordings of conversations without the consent of the other party. Shevin.

Id. Following the court's holding in Sells that any implied or actual notice that a conversation may be subject to interception does not diminish the expectation of privacy, the Respondents' expectation of privacy was reasonable and, therefore, their conversations were statutorily protected "oral communications."

The State also argues that a person's ignorance of the technology surrounding cordless telephones cannot support a claim to any expectation of privacy. *United States v. Carr*, 805 F.Supp. 1266 (E.D.N.C. 1992). Respondents may concede the common sense point that failure to acquaint oneself with "the technology ... employed to further ... illegal

[W]e reject the state's contention that it has demonstrated a lack of privacy by the existence of an FCC sticker on the bottom of the base of the telephone in question. As previously noted, there is absolutely no evidence in the record as to the Mozos' knowledge of the sticker, including whether they saw the sticker and ignored it, whether they read the sticker and concluded that it was meaningless, or whether they read the sticker and concluded that others, including the government, may be listening to their conversations. We can only speculate as to where the phone came from, whether it was in the apartment when the Mozos rented the apartment, whether the phone was a gift to the Mozos and so on.

In any event, we do not believe knowledge of a sticker that includes the ambiguous notation that "Privacy of communication may not be insured" constitutes a waiver of a person's right to privacy. See Sells v. State, 582 So.2d 1244 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) (The suspicion that one's privacy may be invaded does not waive the right to privacy). Indeed, it is unlikely that anyone would contend that such a sticker on a regular telephone would constitute a waiver.

Mozo, 632 So.2d at 633 n.9.

⁸Judge Anstead commented on the effect of the telephone sticker in this case as follows:

activity does not insulate [a person] from responsibility." Carr, 805 F.Supp. at 1275. However, the courts in Lee v. Florida and Sells did not use a standard based on one's ignorance of the vulnerability of a particular communication system in determining the legality of governmental intrusion, but asked whether the phone user had a reasonable expectation of privacy. Regardless of a person's lack of knowledge of how an electronic instrument operates, the expectation within one's own home cannot be undermined by such a standard without circumventing fundamental privacy rights.

In sum, reasoning that (1) an expectation of privacy in one's own home is reasonable and a right recognized by society; (2) that the interception of communication occurs where the communication originates; (3) actual or implied knowledge that a communication may be intercepted does not waive the expectation of privacy; and (4) no compelling state interest was articulated which might justify overriding the Respondents' right to privacy, the Respondents' expectation of privacy was clearly reasonable, the police intrusion thereon was a violation of Florida's Security of Communications Act as effective to "oral communication," and the Court should so find, aligning itself firmly with that right to privacy.

In its ensuing argument, the State contends that the district court ignored the

⁹This Court held that a "legitimate, on-going criminal investigation satisfies the compelling state interest test when [the State] demonstrates a clear connection between the illegal activity and the person whose privacy would be invaded." *Shaktman v. State*, 553 So.2d 148, 152 (Fla. 1989).

In the case at bar, the record revealed that police haphazardly intercepted Respondents' telephone calls and *no criminal investigation was in progress*. The record states that police were in Respondents' neighborhood "using an electronic scanner device to monitor private telephone calls. It is not clear ... why the detectives chose to surveil this particular complex. Their goal was to scan frequencies at random hoping to come across some kind of illegal activity." *Mozo*, 632 So.2d at 624. Clearly, no compelling state interest was articulated in this case.

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